

Collection Development Policy

June 2022

Table of Contents

Attributions and Acknowledgements	
Purpose	
Mission, Processes, and Policies	5
Organization	5
Authority and Mission	
Appraisal	
Accessioning	
Collections	6
State Government Records	8
Local Government Records	8
Manuscript Collections (Non-Government Records)	8
Security and Storage	
Access	
Restrictions on Access and Use	
Digitization of the Collection	
Deaccessioning and Disposition of Materials	10
Replevin	10
Temporary Storage of Materials	
Loans of Materials	
Tax Appraisals	
Copyright	
Appendix 1	
Archives Records Transmittal & Box Content List	
Deed of Gift Form	
Loan Agreement	16

Attributions and Acknowledgements

We acknowledge and thank the Florida State Archives and the Queensland State Archives for the use of their published collection policies listed below. This publication relies on them for structure and content, especially the Florida State Archives.

Florida Department of State, Division of Library & Information Services. <u>Collection</u> <u>Development Policy</u> (<u>http://dlis.dos.state.fl.us/archives/collectionPolicy.cfm</u>)

Parts of the <u>Queensland State Archives' Appraisal Statement</u> (http://www.archives.qld.gov.au/Recordkeeping/Pages/Publications.aspx) are used under a <u>Creative Commons License</u> (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/)

Purpose

To establish a policy for collection development in the Archives. This policy sets forth at a high level the documentation goals and objectives of the Archives. The policy will:

- Define the scope and content of the collections;
- Provide a framework for appraisal decisions;
- Establishes standards to ensure consistency in the selection of archival materials for continued preservation.

In order to reflect changing research trends, archival resources and collection strengths and weaknesses, this policy will be reviewed annually.

Mission, Processes, and Policies

Organization

The State Archives is a program of the Office of the Secretary of State. The State Archives has statewide responsibility to promote the economical and efficient management of public records as defined in chapter 40.14 RCW, and to preserve those records having long-term historical value. The Archives provides services and technical assistance to state and local governments, as well as the public, to effectively manage and preserve records.

Authority and Mission

Washington's archival records are among the most important legal, historical and cultural resources belonging to the people of the State. These unique, irreplaceable records are essential to ensuring the rights of citizens and organizations and to understanding the responsibilities and limitations of government. They offer insight into our diverse heritage and history; provide government officials the perspective they need to manage responsibly; and supply valuable information for historians, genealogists, teachers and students from across the state and beyond.

The Washington State Archives' mandate is to preserve and make available the important legal and historical public records from state and local government entities. The Archives' specific mandates are found in chapter 40.14 RCW, which authorizes the State Archives to:

- Manage the archives of the state of Washington;
- Centralize the archives of the state of Washington;
- Make them available for reference and scholarship;
- Ensure their proper preservation;
- Ensure the maintenance and security of all state public records and establish safeguards against unauthorized removal or destruction;
- Provide for the proper retention and disposition of records created by state and local agencies.

Appraisal

Appraisal is the process the Archives uses to determine whether records and other materials have permanent (archival) value. Public records are identified and appraised through the Division's records scheduling and disposition process and on-site visitations.

There are two categories of public archival records in Washington State, Archival (Permanent Retention), and Archival (Appraisal Required). In all cases, records designated as archival are reviewed by professional staff to ensure an appropriate appraisal. Archival (Permanent Retention) records will be preserved in the Archives, as is. Archival (Appraisal Required) records will be reviewed and in some cases records

may be sampled, or weeded out of the collection.

The Archives only collects materials related to Washington and places a special emphasis on materials for collection areas that are under documented and have strong informational value and content.

The Archives accepts records in a wide variety of formats, including paper originals, photographs, magnetic recordings, film and electronic formats. In general, though, the Archives does not collect newspapers, three-dimensional artifacts, publications or private donations that do not enhance the understanding of government. Unlike museums and libraries, the Archives does not have the proper storage space and shelving to store artifacts, newspapers and publications, nor does the Archives have curatorial staff trained in the proper care and preservation of such collections.

In order to ensure that newspapers, three-dimensional artifacts and manuscript materials are housed in the most appropriate institution, the Archives works closely with the Washington State Library, Washington State Historical Society, tribal governments, and other allied cultural organizations. However, the Archives will accession artifacts that must be maintained and stored on the Washington State Capitol Campus, such as state gifts, commemorative items and artifacts of note to the Capitol.

Accessioning

Accessioning is the process the Archives uses to take legal and physical custody of a group of records or other materials. Accessioning involves formally documenting receipt of the records in a register and database, as well as arranging and describing the records to ensure accessibility.

All public records accessioned into the Archives are scheduled through the records retention scheduling function and are subject to the "Transfer of Custody Agreement" listed on the Archives Records Transmittal and Box Content List (See Appendix 1). Records transferred to the Archives come under the physical and legal control of the Archives.

All non-government records transferred to the Archives are subject to the conditions outlined in the "Washington State Archives, Deed of Gift" (See Appendix 1) form. The Archives will not accept materials unless they are accompanied by the completed Deed of Gift form.

Collections

State and local government public records are the core of the Archives' collections. These records are termed "public records," which are defined in RCW 40.14.010 as

including any paper, correspondence, completed form, bound record book, photograph, film, sound recording, map drawing, machine-readable material, compact disc meeting current industry ISO specifications, or other document, regardless of physical form or characteristics, and including such copies thereof, that have been made by or received by any agency of the state of Washington in connection with the transaction of public business, and legislative records as described in RCW 40.14.100.

Although state and local government records are the core of our collections, the Archives does hold a small percentage of manuscript collections, or non-governmental records. A special collecting emphasis is placed on records that represent, highlight, clarify or further explain government, its functions and its actions.

The Archives places an emphasis on collecting records containing information related to the interactions between Washington's citizens and its government, as well as records that document the environment, natural resources, the Legislature, social services, the courts, economic development, land use, property ownership, transportation, ports, social services and vital records.

The Archives collects records in the following areas:

- Records designated by law as having long-term or permanent value, such as vital records;
- Records that document and provide information about the origins, functions and activities of an agency;
- Records showing the formation of policy, development of programs and administration of agencies;
- Records of continuing value that are critical to the operations of an agency because the information contained in them is administrative, legal or financial in nature;
- Records that have intrinsic value based upon the physical form of the record, its uniqueness or other factors arising out of its creation or use;
- Records with extended and unbroken time spans offering uniform and comparable information on the operations and programs of an agency;
- Records that provide the most accurate and understandable source of information to researchers;
- Records documenting historic events;
- The records of legislators, justices and other former executive-level public officials;
- Significant collections of individuals, families or organizations that enhance existing public records regarding social, civic, economic, educational, military or political history of Washington;
- Private papers and records that complement existing public records in the Archives or that fill in gaps in under documented collection areas;
- Political ephemera of candidates and ballot propositions.

State Government Records document the history, organization, and functions of Washington state government; its influence and impact upon the lives of its citizens; and the protection of their civil rights. This collection consists of records from the territorial period to the present and from all branches and agencies of government, including the executive, judicial and legislative branches.

Typical archival State Government Records include executive-level correspondence and policy documents, annual and biennial reports, legislative files, meeting minutes, studies and research reports, public affairs files, court case files, land management files, maps, vital records, pollution clean-up documents and administrative procedures.

Local Government Records document the history, organization and functions of the many local government agencies found throughout the state, including county offices such as the Auditor, Clerk, Treasurer, and Board of Commissioners, as well as municipalities, school districts and other service districts.

Typical archival Local Government Public Records include executive-level correspondence and policy documents, vital records, annual and biennial reports, probate files, agenda packets, meeting minutes, resolutions, ordinances, land ownership files, studies and research reports, court case files, voting records, plats and surveys, newsletters, tax records and administrative procedures.

Manuscript Collections (Non-Government Records) are comprised of records of private individuals, as well as organizations that augment government records collections or otherwise shed light on government policies or activities.

Typical archival Manuscript Collection (Non-Government) records include diaries, scrapbooks, research, correspondence, meeting minutes, journals, maps, photographs and other related materials.

Security and Storage

All public records and manuscript materials acquired by the Archives are accessioned, described and preserved according to established professional standards. Even with these best practices, however, all records deteriorate. To counter and slow this process, the Archives employs several preservation strategies. Among these strategies are:

- Storage of the records in special temperature- and humidity-controlled facilities and vaults;
- Monitoring the environment to ensure there are no extreme fluctuations in temperature or humidity;
- Minimizing the impact of light fading the records by using motion-controlled sensors;
- Diminishing the risk of fire by using heat and smoke detectors;
- Using multiple layers of security to reduce the threat of theft;

- Maintaining an integrated pest management program to prevent harm from insects and vermin;
- Rehousing records in archival boxes and folders;
- Reformatting records to ensure the long-term survival of the information in the records;
- Practicing migration strategies, redundant storage and the physical dispersal of copies to ensure indefinite long-term access of electronic records.

By implementing these strategies, the Archives can increase the records' lifespans many times over.

Access

The Archives makes its collections available to a wide variety of researchers, including government officials, lawyers, historians, students, genealogists, the public and others interested in Washington's government, its people and the events that have shaped its history. Materials in the Archives' collections are available to all researchers on equal terms of access; the Archives does not grant privileged or exclusive use to any person or group.

Research in the Archives' collections is supported by a variety of finding aids, guides, indexes and websites. The Digital Archives (www.digitalarchives.wa.gov) hosts the collected electronic records of the Archives, the majority of which are searchable at the item level. The Archives' online catalog (www.sos.wa.gov/archives/search/) is designed to assist researchers in locating information about public records and manuscript collections in the Archives. The Archives also provides printed collection descriptions, subject guides and automated indexes for selected collections.

Restrictions on Access and Use

All public records transferred to the custody of the Archives are open to inspection and examination by the public unless specifically prohibited by law. Access to non-public manuscript and photographic collections donated to the Archives may be subject to restrictions placed upon them by the donor.

Records transferred or donated to the Archives must be used and copied on-site at the Archives, with the exception of electronic records that are made available online. Records may not be removed for any purpose unless special arrangements have been made or they are subpoenaed into court. Any record in the Archives' collection can be certified if needed in court.

The Archives maintains a separate policy guiding public access to restricted records.

Digitization of the Collection

In addition to the management of the physical collections in the State Archives, there have been substantial efforts by staff and partner organizations to create digital versions

of important records from the collections. These efforts were initiated to:

- Increase the number of records available online;
- Reduce wear and tear on the original records;
- Provide access to records that are too fragile or damaged to be accessed in their original format;
- Improve services to customers consistent with their evolving expectations;
- Contribute to open and accountable government by promoting access to government information.

Deaccessioning and Disposition of Materials

Recommendations for the disposition of accessioned public records may be made as a result of archival re-appraisal. Such disposition of public records will be made only after prior approval of the originating agency and with the authorization of the State Archivist. Individual records may be weeded, or sampled, without notification of the agency of origin or the State Archivist.

Manuscripts and other non-government records that are determined to have no permanent value or historical interest will be returned to the donor or otherwise disposed of according to the wishes of the donor as stated in the "Deed of Gift." If no provision is made, the Archives will use its discretion in disposition of unwanted materials and may attempt to locate a more appropriate institution. The Archives does not sell unwanted materials as a means of disposition.

Replevin

Replevin is the action of recovering property that has been improperly or illegally taken. Replevin is frequently used to describe efforts to recover public records that are in private hands. Fortunately, most citizens return state or local government documents once they realize that the historical documents are lost or stolen. They realize that democratic societies require a clear record of government actions and decisions for accountability purposes and to ensure that citizen rights and equities are preserved.

When identified historical government documents are not returned willingly, the Archives has the legal authority to retrieve them in court through a legal action called replevin. Washington's Replevin Law, <u>Chapter 7.64</u> RCW, enables state and local government agencies to recover public records that are in the possession of a person, organization or institution not authorized to possess those records.

Temporary Storage of Materials

As a service to cultural institutions in need, the Archives will offer space for the temporary short-term storage of materials. This storage is provided at the sole discretion of the State Archivist and is dependent upon the availability of space. There

are no costs associated with the storage, but all access to the collections will be provided by the institution in need, without exception. At the time of storage, the Archives will require a signed contract indemnifying and holding the Archives harmless for all damages to the materials.

Loans of Materials

The Archives will only loan original materials from its collections with the authorization of the State Archivist and a completed Loan Agreement Form (See Appendix 1).

Tax Appraisals

The Archives cannot appraise donated materials to determine their fair market value since the Archives is considered an interested party in the transaction. Such evaluations do not meet the IRS definition of "qualified appraisal." To qualify as acceptable for income tax use, the appraisal must be performed by an objective, qualified appraiser, unconnected with either the donor or the institution, hired for this purpose by the donor.

In addition, the Archives cannot provide tax advice or interpretation of the tax laws to answer individual questions. Donors should consult an expert tax advisor for answers to specific questions on the use of gifts of property for charitable contribution deductions.

Donors interested in monetary appraisal of manuscripts should contact the <u>American</u> <u>Society of Appraisers</u> to help locate a manuscripts appraiser in their area.

Copyright

As stated on the "Deed of Gift" form, all materials transferred to the Archives become the sole and absolute property of the Archives. All rights, title, and interest in and to these materials, together with all literary property rights held by the donor(s), are transferred to the Archives. The Archives, as owner of literary rights transferred by the "Deed of Gift," may exercise or transfer to a third party the right of quotation or publication.

It is the responsibility of the researcher to determine the status of copyright in the records he or she uses. The researcher is liable for any copyright infringement in use of the records.



WASHINGTON Secretary of State

ARCHIVES RECORDS TRANSMITTAL & BOX CONTENT LIST

Washington State Archives

	rchives se Only	Received By	Date	Acc	ession Number
Name of Agency	Office / S	Sub-Division			Records Officer
Records Officer Telephone Number			Records Officer I	E-mai	1

Location	Box/Vol#/ Reel#/Barcode	Record Series / File Title	Dates	DAN
		TRANSFER OF CUSTODY AGREEMENT		

Agency hereby transfers the authentic records listed above to the custody and jurisdiction of the Washington State Archives. Except as hoted above, the records have been in Agency's custody for the duration of their existence and are not subject to statutory exemption or other restriction. Archives and Agency concur that any records subject to statutory exemption or other restriction have sufficient historical, legal and/or fiscal value to warrant making them publicly accessible after passage of the requisite period of time, per 40.14 RCW. The records will become and remain the property of the State of Washington and will be stored, referenced, managed and disposed of in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, the policies and procedures of the Division of Archives and Records Management, and the instructions of the State Archivist.

Signature of Agency Official

Date

Signature of Archivist

Date



WASHINGTON Secretary of State Washington State Archives

Washington State Archives

Location: 1129 Washington St. SE, Olympia, WA 98504 Mailing Address: PO Box 40238, Olympia, WA 98504 E-mail: research@sos.wa.gov Telephone: (360) 586-1492 Hours: 8:30 AM – 4:30 PM, Monday - Friday

DEED OF GIFT

1. Purpose

By entering into the Deed of Gift, the DONOR (as defined below) gives all right, title, and interest in the MATERIAL (as defined below) to the Washington State Archives, a division of the Washington State Office of the Secretary of State, referred to hereafter as the "DONEE".

Definitions:

- A. The DONOR is the person who owns the right, title, and interest in the MATERIAL.
- B. The MATERIAL is the physical and electronic records and documents given by the DONOR to the DONEE through this Deed of Gift.

2. Donor Contact Information

Name:	
Permanent Address:	
Phone:	
Email:	

3. Description of Materials Donated (attach additional sheet if necessary):

4. Transfer of Ownership and Transfer of Copyright

By signing this Deed of Gift, the DONOR is affirming that the DONOR has the exclusive right, title, and interest in the MATERIAL and is fully authorized to enter into this Deed of Gift.

By signing this Deed of Gift, the DONOR is also affirming that the MATERIAL is free and clear from any and all encumbrances, that there has been no prior pledge, option or gift of any part of the MATERIAL to any other person, and that DONOR has the right to give or transfer the MATERIAL.

By signing this Deed of Gift, the DONOR understands that the MATERIAL described above, including rights in copyright (if any), become the legal property of the Washington State Archives.

5. Access to the Material

Researcher and third party access to the MATERIAL will be governed by the Washington State Archives' policies and procedures, including:

- materials will be open for research use and may be used in physical and digital exhibits, and may be reproduced, digitized, and reformatted for preservation and access
- confidential materials identified by the DONOR, or that are discovered by Washington State Archives Staff during processing, may be restricted to protect the privacy of the DONOR or the privacy of others, as required by state or federal law.

The following portions of the MATERIAL are identified by the DONOR as confidential:

6. Separations

Items not retained during the initial processing or future reappraisal by the Washington State Archives shall be (initial on the line next to A, B, or C):

A.) Discarded		
B.) Returned to me or my heirs after a reasonable sear	ch is conducted	
C.) Other (please describe):		
7. Signatures		
I understand and agree to the terms and conditions described he	erein:	
Donor Name:		
	_	
Signature:	Date:	
I accept this gift on behalf of the Washington State Archives:		
Donee Name:	_	
Signature:	Date	



The Washington State Archives PO Box 40238 1129 Washington Street SE Olympia, WA 98504-0238 Phone: (360) 586-1492 http://www.sos.wa.gov/archives/

Loan Agreement Form

The objects listed below are hereby loaned to:

(Name of Borrowing Institution)			
(Street Address)	(City, State)	(Zip Code)	
	(Only, Olato)		
For the period of	through	;	
For the purpose of			
Approved by:(State Archivist, Heat	hor Hirotoko)	(Date)	
(State Archivist, Heat		(Date)	
Description of Objects: (use additional Total Number of Objects		5)	
Item Accession Number Description		Condition	
The Loan Agreement Conditions attached The undersigned represents and warrant the Borrower, that he/she has read and un Agreement Conditions and any other attached	ts that he/she has the authority understands the conditions of th	to execute this agreement on behalf of ne loan as outlined in the Loan	
(Date)	(Authorized Signature of	Borrower)	

(Phone Number)

(Printed Name and Title)

Loan Agreement Conditions:

The Borrower agrees to abide by the guidelines and conditions for loans as set forth below. These conditions may be changed at the discretion of the Washington State Archives (Archives).

Care and Protection

- Only personnel properly trained in the handling of historical artifacts may handle the objects.
- Object handling shall be kept to a minimum at all times during the loan.
- The Borrower agrees to meet any special requirements for installation or handling as noted or referenced in this agreement or in a special document transmitted to Borrower by the Archives.
- All loaned objects shall be kept in a secure area from the time of receipt until returned to the Archives.
- No tape, glue, pins, staples, wires, or other materials may be placed on or into the objects. Consult the Archives for instruction on mounts if information or specifications have not been provided.
- The Borrower must undertake to maintain constant and adequate protection of the loan object(s) to minimize the risk of theft or damage, and the objects will be displayed wit maximum attention to security.
- The Borrower must undertake to maintain constant and adequate protection of the loan object(s) from any damage, including, but not limited to the hazards of fire and flood, exposure to harmful light levels, extremes of temperature and relative humidity, insect damage, and pollution.
- In the event of damage to the loan object(s) while in the custody of the Borrower, the Borrower will be responsible for all conservation costs necessary to return the loan object(s) to the same or better condition.
- Any changes in the condition of the loan object(s), variation from the stated guidelines in this
 agreement, loss, theft, or damage to the loan, in transit, during storage or exhibit must be reported
 immediately to the State Archivist of the State of Washington. If any of the above should occur,
 Borrower shall send a full written and photographic condition report to the State Archivist of the State of
 Washington as soon as possible.
- No object may be altered, cleaned, repaired, or fumigated without the permission of the Archives, except in an emergency situation when the safety of the work makes such action imperative. The Borrower agrees that no sub-loans will be made without the prior written consent of the Archives.
- The Archives may require an on-site inspection and approval of the actual installation by a member of its own staff or a designated representative at the expense of the Borrower.
- Access to objects on loan must, upon demand, be immediately provided by the Borrower to officers, staff members or designated representatives of the Archives for inspection.
- The loan object(s) must not be individually photographed, filmed, televised, or reproduced without the express, written consent of the Archives, with the exception that general views of an exhibition may be taken for publicity purposes.
- Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower may photograph the loan objects for use in connection with an exhibit, catalog, or scholarly publication. However, no photographs of materials, files, etc. featuring photographs may be offered for sale by the Borrower without prior written permission from the Archives.

Packing and Transportation

- The Archives will specify and provide the method of packing, and will provide any special instructions for unpacking and repacking.
- The method of shipping must be agreed upon by both parties.
- The Borrower will exercise due care in the custody, handling, transport, unpacking and repacking of the loan.
- The Borrower, upon unpacking, will acknowledge immediately the receipt of the loan by signing and returning the 1st copy of the Receipt Acknowledgment. The 2nd copy is to be retained by the Borrower.

Initials of Borrower: _____

• On return, the loan must be packed in the same manner as received and with the same cases, pads, and packing materials. In cases of damage to packing materials, the Borrower must contact the Archives for instructions before packing.

Acknowledgment Line

- The exhibition acknowledgment line for all loan objects shall be "Washington State Archives, Olympia, Washington."
- If the Archives agrees to photograph reproductions of the loan object(s), the Borrower will ensure that ownership of the loan object(s) is indicated as: "Washington State Archives, Olympia, WA," and identified with each object's accession number. For questions about the accession number, please contact the Archives.
- The Borrower agrees to use "Washington State Archives" in any acknowledgments.
- Two copies of any published exhibition catalog which includes entries for the objects must be provided to the Archives.

<u>Costs</u>

- Unless otherwise noted on the agreement, all costs of packing, transportation, couriers, insurance and other loan and exhibition related expenses are the sole responsibility of the Borrower.
- If an exhibition is to travel to more than one venue, it is the sole responsibility of the Borrower to ensure that the conditions set forth in this document are met at all other exhibiting venues.

Cancellation/Return/Extension

- The Archives reserves the right to recall the loan or cancel the loan, with or without cause, at any time, and is hereby relieved of any liability resulting from such action. The Archives will make every effort to give reasonable notice thereof.
- Objects lent must be returned to the Archives by the stated return date. Any extension of the loan period must be approved in writing by the State Archivist, along with the return of a signed loan extension form by both parties.
- If at any time the objects listed in this loan agreement are removed from display with no plans for future displays, the Archives must be notified, at which point the Archives reserves the right to recall the objects.

Interpretation

• In the event of any conflict between this agreement and any forms of the Borrower, the terms of this agreement shall control. The agreement is performed under and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington without regard to the conflict of law provisions.

Special Conditions of the Loan

Initials of Borrower: _____